IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC05-433

ERIC SCOTT BRANCH,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Michael P. Reiter 4543 Hedgewood Drive Tallahassee, Florida 32309 Attorney for Appellant (850) 893-4668

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This appeal is from the denial of Appellant's motion for postconviction relief by Circuit Court Judge Nickenson, First Judicial Circuit, Escambia County, Florida, following an evidentiary hearing. This proceeding challenges both Appellant's convictions and his death sentence.

STATEMENT OF CASE

Appellant was tried in Escambia County, Florida, and convicted of first-degree murder, sexual battery and grand theft¹. The jury trial commenced on March 7, 1994 [R. 1]. On March 10, 1994, the jury found Mr. Branch guilty as charged [R. 935]. On March 11, 1994, the jury recommended death by a vote of 10-2 [R. 1032]. On May 3, 1994, the Court imposed the death sentence. The Florida Supreme Court affirmed Appellant's convictions and death sentence on direct appeal. <u>Branch v.</u> <u>State</u>, 685 So. 2d 1250 (Fla. 1996), *rehearing denied* (January 8, 1997)². Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the United States Supreme Court was denied on May 12, 1997. <u>Branch v. Florida</u>, 520 U.S. 1218 (1997). On May 7, 1998, Appellant timely filed an initial, but incomplete, "shell" postconviction motion to toll the time to file his Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus in

¹The court presented a general verdict to the jurors offering premeditated first-degree murder and felony murder. Despite this, the record indicates that the State argued felony murder premised upon the underlying sexual battery charge.

²The following issues were raised on appeal: (1) failure to grant a continuance; (2) failure to conduct hearings to determine counsel's competence; (3) failure to give a requested instruction on circumstantial evidence; (4) insufficient evidence; (5) comment on right to silence; (6) photo of victim; (7) failure to give a requested instruction defining mitigating evidence; (8) evidence of another crime, and (9) victim impact evidence.

federal court³ [PC-R. p137-200].

On June 30, 2003, the office of Capital Collateral Regional Counsel - North ceased to exist. Undersigned Counsel was appointed to represent the Defendant as of July 14, 2003 [PC-R. Vol. I, p877-878]. Appellant filed his Second Amended 3.850 Motion October 10, 2003. An order granting an evidentiary hearing was entered on December 15, 2003 [PC-R. p1044-1047]. An evidentiary hearing was conducted April 26-28, 2004 [PC-T. Vol. I-III]. The Trial Court entered an order denying Appellant's Motion to Vacate on February 24, 2005 [PC-R. Vol. IX, p1591-1616]. Appellant filed his Notice of Appeal on March 4, 2005 [PC-R. Vol. IX, p1617-1618].

 $^{^{3}}$ Appellant filed his initial motion prior to the effective date of the new Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(e)(1) setting a page limit and other requirements.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts adopted by this Court set out in <u>State of Florida</u> v. Branch, 685 So.2d 1250 (Fla. 1996) are as follows:

Eric Branch was wanted by police in Indiana and because the car he was driving, a Pontiac, could be traced to him, he decided to steal a car from the campus of the University of West Florida in Pensacola. When Susan Morris, a young college student, approached her car after attending an evening class, January 11, 1993, Branch accosted her and stole her red Toyota. Morris' nude body was found later in nearby woods; she had been beaten, stomped, sexually assaulted and strangled. She bore numerous bruises and lacerations, both eyes were swollen shut, and a wooden stick was broken off in her vagina. Branch was arrested several days later in Indiana and charged with first-degree murder, sexual battery, and grand theft.

Evidence introduced at trial showed the following: On the night of the murder, a friend saw Branch with a cut hand, which Branch said he had gotten in a bar fight; that same night, Branch was seen on campus wearing a pair of black and white checkered shorts and driving a "smallish red vehicle"; Branch was sighted in Bowling Green, Kentucky, two days later, and Morris's car was recovered the next day in a parking lot there; when Branch was arrested, he had in his possession a pair of black and white checkered shorts stained with his own blood; a bloodstain matching Morris was found on the back of the passenger seat of the red Toyota; when Branch's Pontiac was discovered abandoned in the Pensacola airport parking lot, "medium velocity splatter" bloodstains matching Morris's DNA profile were found on boots and socks inside. Branch testified on his own behalf and was convicted as charged.

The trial court followed the jury's ten-to-two vote and imposed a sentence of death on the first-

degree murder count based on three aggravating circumstances and several nonstatutory mitigating circumstances. The court imposed life imprisonment on the sexual battery count and five years imprisonment on the grand theft charge. Branch raises nine issues.

However, the facts behind the scenes are set out in this document, the original record, and at the Evidentiary Hearing as follows:

On February 23, 1993, an Indictment was filed against Appellant [R. Vol. I, p1]. While Appellant was being held in jail on another charge in Panama City, he was served with the Indictment on June 10, 1993[R. Vol. I, p4]. Assistant Public Defender Earl Loveless was the first to represent Appellant. According to Mr. Allbritton's (trial counsel) Motion for Continuance [R. Vol. I, p115], he took over the representation of Appellant on November 1, 1993, and was concurrently lead counsel on another death case and a major drug case. The trail in this cause began on March 7, 1994, slightly over four months after trial counsel assumed responsibility of the case.

PRE-TRIAL PERFORMANCE

CONTINUANCES TO HIRE MENTAL HEALTH EXPERT - On numerous occasions during pre-trial proceedings, trial counsel motioned the court for a continuance in order to hire a mental health expert [R. Vol. I, p115-116, p158, 162; Vol. II, p290; TT. Vol. VI, p942]. At the Evidentiary Hearing, trial counsel conceded he did not hire a mental health expert, although he indicated to the Court that hiring a mental health expert was the reason he requested the continuances.

At the Evidentiary Hearing, trial counsel's explanation for not hiring a mental health expert was, "there was no need to" [PC-T. Vol. I, p143]. If this was true, trial counsel contradicted that statement by making misrepresentations to the Court, as well as Appellant, that he intended to hire a mental health expert. Trial counsel essentially admitted such misrepresentation at the Evidentiary Hearing by stating that he did not pursue hiring a mental health expert after each request for a continuance [PC-T. Vol. I, p150]. Trial counsel also testified he had spoken to an unknown public defender and was told that Dr. Larson (psychologist hired by the public defender to examine Appellant prior to trial counsel taking over the case) had evaluated Appellant. Trial counsel also testified he had not spoken to Dr. Larson [PC-T. Vol. I, p143].

INVESTIGATOR - Trial counsel testified at the Evidentiary Hearing that he did not hire an investigator (Fred Wimberly) until one week prior to the beginning of trial for the sole purpose of finding Eric St. Pierre (the person Appellant testified at trial was the actual killer) [PC-T. Vol. I. 155-156].

Mr. Wimberly testified at the Evidentiary Hearing that Appellant told him who to speak with and where to find Eric St. Pierre [PC-T. Vol. III, p325, p331]. He also testified that he found a man named Eric St. Pierre and took his picture. Appellant then identified the man in the photograph as the person who killed Ms. Morris, and that he showed the picture to trial counsel [PC-T. Vol. I. 326-328]. Trial counsel denied Mr. Wimberly's testimony. However, the trial court made no reference to Mr. Wimberly's testimony in its order.

HIRING OF EXPERTS - At the Evidentiary Hearing, trial counsel acknowledged he did not hire any experts, although he knew the State would be calling experts [PC-T. Vol. I, p141]. Trial counsel testified at the Evidentiary Hearing that he had read about the subject matter which the State's experts would testify to. Although he had no expertise on the subject, he felt he would be able to effectively cross-examine the experts [PC-T. Vol. I, p141-142]. He also didn't want to lose open-and-close at the trial, and he was concerned that the State would discover the identity of his experts [PC-T. Vol. II, p282], via the County's billings [PC-T. Vol. II, p282].

During cross-examination at the Evidentiary Hearing trial counsel stated:

- Q. Now is there any disadvantage when a defendant is declared partially indigent and asks his counsel or his counsel decides to retain an expert?
- A. Well, if he's not declared partially indigent, I can go out, I can get an expert, I can ask that expert to look at the evidence and if it comes back and I don't like what they've said, I don't have to list that person as a witness. However, if he's been declared partially indigent for costs, whether I want to call that person as a witness or not, the State now knows because I've got to file a motion to have that person paid, they now know who that expert witness is and if I get an expert witness that's going to come back and say something that doesn't fit with my client's testimony, now I've helped, I've assisted the State in their case.

And when you're doing these types of cases and you have an individual declared partially indigent, you have to be careful with the experts. You go out and you can go out and get an expert and that expert can come back and absolutely agree with the State's expert. Now that's not somebody I want to give to the State. So, you know, once, again, if there are ways for me to get that information in to the jury through the State's witnesses, then I see no need to hire an expert.

[PC-T. Vol. II, p230-231].

MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE OBTAINED FROM PONTIAC - Trial counsel did not file a Motion to Suppress the items taken from the Pontiac⁴. He believed the warrant to search the Pontiac

⁴Mr. Loveless, a seasoned public defender with capital case experience, testified that he would have filed a Motion to

contained sufficient facts to indicate there may be evidence of the crime [PC-T. Vol. I, p139]. However, trial counsel acknowledged that the affidavit for the search warrant made reference to the Appellant being seen with the Pontiac prior to the death of Ms. Morris. [PC-T. Vol. I, p141]. Trial counsel could not remember if he had performed any research on the issue of affidavits for search [PC-T. Vol. I, p140]. Trial counsel stated that generally he would file a motion if it would benefit his client and it had legal merit [PC-T. Vol. II, p224]. On direct examination at the Evidentiary Hearing, trial counsel had difficulty remembering most of his actions during this case [PC-T. Vol. I, p118, 146, 148, 150, 151, 155, 164]. However, on cross-examination trial counsel had no problem with his memory while answering the State's questions [PC-T. Vol. II, p224-274].

FAMILY AND BACKGROUND - Trial counsel testified at the Evidentiary Hearing he did not travel to Indiana where Appellant's family lived nor speak to any family member, other than Alfred Branch (Appellant's grandfather) until the week of trial [PC-T. Vol. I, p147; Vol. II, p215].

Connie Branch (Appellant's sister), testified at the Evidentiary Hearing that nine family members were present at the trial [PC-T. Vol. III, p461]. She testified trial counsel only

suppress when he completed discovery.

spoke with them the day before trial began. She further testified that trial counsel did not inform them of questions he would ask, what would happen at the penalty phase, questions the State would ask, or ask anyone about Appellant's background [PC-T. Vol. III, p462]. Connie Branch testified the only statement trial counsel made was to instruct everyone to say the worst things possible about the Appellant [PC-T. Vol. III, p463]. Connie Branch testified that everyone would have been willing to testify on behalf of Appellant had they been asked [PC-T. Vol. IV, p464].

REQUEST TO WITHDRAW - Alfred Branch (Appellant's grandfather) testified that he, along with Verdelski Miller (Indiana attorney), spoke with trial counsel prior to trial and requested that he withdraw [PC-T. Vol. III, p487]. He testified that trial counsel stated the court would not allow him to withdraw. At a pre-trial hearing, Alfred Branch had previously informed the trial court that he wanted trial counsel to withdraw [R. Vol. II, p281].

At the Evidentiary Hearing, trial counsel did not deny the request to withdraw or that he told to Alfred Branch the Court would not permit him to withdraw [PC-T. Vol. II, p219].

TRIAL PERFORMANCE

During the guilt phase of the trial, trial counsel failed to impeach any of the State's witnesses with their inconsistent statements made in their depositions. At trial, Ms. Cowden and Mr. Flaum (State's witnesses) testified about specific details concerning the car the Appellant was driving, the clothing he was wearing, and time lines. Although trial counsel possessed Cowden's and Flaum's depositions, he did not attempt to impeach either one about their inconsistent statements given in their depositions.

Trial counsel lacked the knowledge to cross-examine Dr. Cumberland (medical examiner). In fact, at the Evidentiary Hearing Dr. Cumberland testified trial counsel asked the wrong questions [PC-T. Vol. II, p382]. Dr. Cumberland acknowledged at the Evidentiary Hearing that Dr. Daniel (defense forensic pathologist) was correct that microscopic tissue examination would be the best way to determine if an injury was premortem or postmortem. Dr. Daniel testified at the Evidentiary Hearing that the injury to Ms. Morris's vagina caused by the lodged stick was most likely postmortem and probably lodged there by pushing debris up against her body because there was evidence of similar debris found in the vagina. Dr. Cumberland did not refute that testimony at the evidentiary hearing. Dr.

Cumberland's trial testimony went unimpeached by trial counsel.

Trial counsel lacked sufficient knowledge about forensic evidence in order to impeach Ms. Johnson (State forensic expert). At the evidentiary hearing, Dr. Kish (defense forensic expert) testified that Ms. Johnson's theory about how blood got on Appellant's boots while straddling Ms. Morris's head as he hit her was speculative at best. Dr. Kish also testified the science of blood spatter could not be that specific and the blood spatter could have been deposited on the boots in a number of ways. Ms. Johnson was permitted to speculate without objection or impeachment. Dr. Kish testified that trial counsel asked questions that were not relevant to the facts of the case. **PENALTY PHASE**

At the penalty phase and Spencer hearing, trial counsel failed to present family witnesses who were present for the trial, he failed to object to the introduction of an abstract judgment of conviction, he incorrectly objected to the use of a prior conviction as an aggravator, and he helped the State prove the HAC aggravator by asking questions that revealed "defensive wounds," which went unmentioned during the State's questioning until trial counsel brought the subject matter up.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The issues before this Court primarily stem from ineffective assistance of counsel at pre-trial, guilt phase, and penalty phase. The evidence at the Evidentiary Hearing clearly established that trial counsel totally lacked the experience necessary to conduct a death penalty case, that he had failed to properly prepare, and did not have adequate time to fully investigate.

Trial counsel's failure to file a Motion to Suppress the items retrieved from the Pontiac was based wholly upon an inaccurate assessment of the facts and the law. The Trial Court's assessment was equally inaccurate. Had the evidence been suppressed, Appellant would have been better informed whether to testify at trial and the State's case would have lacked sufficient evidence against Appellant.

Trial counsel's stated strategy to maintain first and last closing arguments before the jury was a higher priority than investigation and hiring experts, which is patently deficient. This deficient strategy prejudiced Appellant, especially since the defense experts who testified at the evidentiary hearing would have provided reasonable doubt upon the State's theory of events and also supported much of Appellant's testimony. Even the State's witness, Dr. Cumberland, indicated that Defense

Counsel failed to ask the right questions about how the stick might have become lodged in the victim's vagina. The trial court erred in finding that failure to hire experts was reasonable strategy.

Trial counsel's failure to conduct any investigation into mitigation or to hire a mental health expert constitutes a complete violation of the holding in <u>Wiggins v. Sewall Smith</u>, 123 S. Ct. 2527, 156 L. Ed. 472 (2003). Further, the Trial Court's order evaluated the <u>Strickland</u> test incorrectly by stating that the additional mitigation established would not have had a measurable effect on him in the Appellant's sentence. The Court's order makes no reference to the holding in <u>Wiggins</u>, and completely ignores the effect the Appellant's life history may have had upon the jury through family members and Dr. Dee's testimony.

The aggravating circumstance of prior violent felony was improperly admitted into evidence. First, the Abstract of Judgment during the penalty phase trial before the jury was clear error. <u>Sinkfield v. State</u>, 592 So.2d 322 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992). Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object. Second, the information and judgment offered to the Trial Court at the Spencer hearing was error because the Indiana offense did

not constitute a felony in Florida. The Trial Court's order finding otherwise was error.

The time frames in this case play a significant role in the conduct of the court, prosecutor and trial counsel. In October 1994, trial counsel became counsel of record and was rushed to trial on March 7, 1994, a preparation time of four and one-half months, in spite of numerous motions to continue. In <u>Weaver v.</u> <u>State</u>, 894 So.2d 178 (Fla. 2004), an oral argument was held on Tuesday, May 4, 2004, wherein Justice Pariente stated: The judge has to know that when he's going in '98 to appoint a new lawyer, if that new lawyer is going to do his job, it's going to take at least a year to get that case to trial to get prepared. Although the denial of a continuance was resolved by this Court on direct appeal, it cannot be ignored that the denial of the continuances had a significant impact upon counsel's effectiveness.

ARGUMENT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT DEFENSE COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE BY FAILING TO FILE A MOTION TO SUPPRESS THE ITEMS TAKEN FROM THE PONTIAC BECAUSE THE MOTION WOULD NOT HAVE BEEN SUCCESSFUL

The standard of review for claims of ineffective assistance of counsel is set out in <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). The Supreme Court held that counsel has "a duty to bring to bear such skill and knowledge as will render the trial a reliable adversarial testing process," 466 U.S. at 668. The <u>Strickland</u> Court requires a defendant to plead and demonstrate: (1) unreasonable attorney performance, and (2) prejudice. This Court has held that counsel's strategic decisions will not be second-guessed on collateral attack. *Brown v. State*, 846 So.2d 1114 (Fla. 2003). However, the standard to determine whether the strategy is reasonable was expressed in <u>Skrandel v. State</u>, 830 So.2d 109 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002).

In assessing counsel's performance for purposes of an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, however, the standard is an objective one and not a subjective one. See Strickland, 466 U.S. at 688; see also Schwab v. State, 814 So.2d 402 (Fla. 2002). Thus, the focus is on what a reasonably competent lawyer, standing in the defendant's lawyer's shoes, would have been expected to do.

The standard of review for the application of <u>Stickland</u> has been expressed as:

An ineffective assistance of counsel claim is a mixed question of law and fact subject to plenary review under the test set forth in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2064, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984).

<u>Rose v. State</u>, 675 So.2d 567, 571 (Fla. 1996); citing <u>Baxter v.</u> <u>Thomas</u>, 45 F.3d 1501 (11th Cir. 1995). In <u>Conner v. State</u>, 803 So. 2d 598 (Fla. 1996), this Court acknowledged the standard of review regarding a trial court's ruling on motions to suppress as:

... the Supreme Court utilized this two-step approach in its appellate review of determinations of probable cause and reasonable suspicion, also mixed issues of law and fact:

As a general matter determinations of reasonable suspicion and probable cause should be reviewed de novo on appeal. Having said this, we hasten to point out that a reviewing court should take care both to review findings of historical fact only for clear error and to give due weight to inferences from these facts by resident judges and local law enforcement officers.

(Citing: <u>Ornelas v. U.S.</u>, 517 U.S. 690, 134 L. Ed. 2d 911, 116 S. Ct. 1657 (1996).

Trial counsel did not file a motion to suppress the items seized from the Pontiac [PC-T. Vol. I, p132]. The trial court's

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