IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ERIC SCOTT BRANCH,

Appellant,

vs.

Case No. SC 05-433

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

CASSANDRA K. DOLGIN

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 644390

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL The Capitol Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3579 FAX (850) 487-0997

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I.

Trial counsel did not perform ineffectively for not filing a motion to suppress evidence seized from appellant's car as properly found by the lower court. Law enforcement lawfully seized Branch's car based upon exigent, safety circumstances based upon the totality of information known to them. In addition, Branch neither owned nor possessed the vehicle at the time, and thus did not have standing to challenge the seizure and subsequent search. Even with a possessory interest, appellant had abandoned the car. Finally, the search warrants upon which the actual search of the vehicle and seizure of appellant's clothes, boots, and other evidence were proper.

II.

The lower court properly held that trial counsel did not render ineffective assistance of counsel while preparing for and in representing Branch during the penalty phase of trial. The additional information presented at the evidentiary hearing was either cumulative to that presented at trial, or unsubstantiated and based upon hearsay, or contrary to competent evidence. Thus appellant was not deprived of a fair penalty phase. The lower court properly rejected appellant's claim of ineffective assistance based upon counsel's failure to hire experts. First, the defense experts at the evidentiary hearing could not conclusively refute the State's experts' testimony, which supported at least in part the defense theory. And after reviewing the evidence and the State experts' depositions, trial counsel had decided to not pursue defense experts because he felt he could effectively conduct cross-examination, the physical evidence that those witnesses would testify to supported in part the defense theory, and counsel could also retain opening and closing argument.

IV.

Appellant's challenge to his conviction from Indiana as not constituting a felony under Florida law is procedurally barred, having not been objected to at trial on that basis and not raised on direct appeal. In addition, the foreign conviction is a felony as defined under Indiana law, and under Florida law based upon the facts and circumstances of that conviction, which is a proper consideration during the penalty phase inquiring into appellant's conduct for purposes of determining aggravating factors. Any error would be harmless in any event, in light of the additional aggravators of HAC and that the murder was committed in the course of a sexual battery, and that the State can prove another prior violent felony.

Appellant procedurally defaulted on his claim that the abstract of his Indiana conviction was improperly admitted and relied upon in sentencing, having not objected at trial and not raised on direct appeal. Thus appellant's transformation of the claim to one of ineffective assistance of counsel should be rejected. Moreover, appellant could not show prejudice where the State presented evidence during the <u>Spencer</u> hearing that unquestionably established his identity.

VI.

The trial court did not err in determining that counsel's decision to not crossexamine State witnesses Melissa Cowden and Joshua Flaum with their pretrial depositions did not constitute ineffective assistance. Trial counsel testified at the evidentiary hearing that he did not believe the matters that he could have impeached the witnesses on were important to appellant's defense. Nor has appellant demonstrated prejudice for the following reasons: in respect to Ms. Cowden, Branch admitted that he was present at the crime scene when she was murdered and thus appellant made no showing how impeaching Ms. Cowden concerning what she remembered appellant wearing and how quickly she could recall the events of that day would have effected the outcome of the proceeding; in respect to Mr. Flaum, Branch admitted that he had stolen the victim's car, thus whether Mr. Flaum identified the vehicle he saw appellant in as red is immaterial.

VII.

The lower court properly held that trial counsel did not render ineffective assistance of counsel while preparing for and in representing Branch during the guilt phase of trial. The record refutes appellant's contentions that counsel had little contact with him and did not investigate Branch's "other Eric" version of what occurred the night Susan Morris was murdered. Nor did appellant establish that his "other Eric" in fact existed. Concerning the use of expert witnesses, trial counsel testified at the evidentiary hearing that he felt that rather than presenting the testimony of experts that would have supported Branch's version of what occurred, he could and did use the State's experts to do just that and therefore was able to retain the right to give opening and closing argument. In addition, Branch's pathologist could not rule out that the stick was forcibly inserted into the victim, and his blood splatter expert's testimony was at least partially inconsistent with appellant's story of what happened.

VIII.

Branch's contention that trial counsel's failure to object to various closing arguments or statements during the guilt phase -- eliciting testimony without a good faith basis, seeking to invoke the jury's sympathy for the victim, improperly vouching for a witnesses' credibility, and arguing facts not in evidence – constituted ineffective assistance of trial counsel. First, having failed to object to these closing arguments at trial, Branch is now seeking to avoid his procedural defaults by couching the issues as claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. The claims should be denied accordingly. Secondly, the motion court properly rejected Branch's claim for relief where trial counsel testified that he did not object as a matter of trial strategy. Appellant's disagreement with counsel's strategy does not establish that counsel performed ineffectively. Third, the arguments and statements were not improper, and counsel will not be held to have provided ineffective assistance for failing to make nonmeritorious objections. And finally, even if objectionable, Branch failed to establish <u>Strickland</u> prejudice thereby warranting relief.

IX.

Consistent with binding precedent, the lower court properly rejected appellant's claim of "cumulative error" because Branch failed to demonstrate any individual claims of error. Absent such a showing, there simply was nothing for the trial court to consider.

ARGUMENTS

I.

THE POSTCONVICTION MOTION COURT PROPERLY HELD THAT COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE WHERE HE ACCURATELY DETERMINED THAT A MOTION TO SUPPRESS WOULD HAVE BEEN FUTILE.

Branch contends that the trial court erroneously determined that counsel was not ineffective for not filing a motion to suppress evidence seized from appellant's vehicle, on the following grounds: former trial counsel "testified that he planned on filing a Motion to Suppress at the close of discovery [PC-T. Vol. II, p302]," IB at 17^3 ; the facts set forth in affidavits upon which the search warrants issued were insufficient and false, <u>id</u>. at 17-18, 22-34; the seizure of the vehicle in the first instance was unlawful, <u>id</u>. at 19-21; improper determination of inevitable discovery, <u>id</u>. at 34-36; and the vehicle was not abandoned. <u>Id</u>. at 36-37.

A. Standard of Review

Following an evidentiary hearing, this Court has held that "the performance and prejudice prongs are mixed questions of law and fact subject to a de novo review standard but that the trial court's factual findings are to be given deference." <u>Porter v. State</u>, 788 So. 2d 917, 923 (Fla.) (internal citation omitted), <u>cert. denied</u>,

³ Appellant's page citation does not support his assertion. <u>See infra</u> at 20-24.

534 U.S. 1004 (2001); <u>see also Stephens v. State</u>, 748 So. 2d 1028, 1031-1033 (Fla.1999).

The standard governing appellant's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel

is well-established:

In order to prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, however, a defendant must demonstrate that (1) counsel's performance was deficient and (2) there is a reasonable probability that the outcome of the proceeding would have been different. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 694, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). As to the first prong, the defendant must establish that "counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052; see Cherry v. State, 659 So.2d 1069, 1072 (Fla.1995). For the prejudice prong, the reviewing court must determine whether there is a reasonable probability that, but for the deficiency, the result of the proceeding would have been different. See Strickland, 466 U.S. at 695, 104 S.Ct. 2052; see also Valle v. State, 705 So.2d 1331, 1333 (Fla.1997). "Unless a defendant makes both showings, it cannot be said that the conviction or death sentence resulted from a breakdown in the adversary process that renders the result unreliable." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052.

Moore v. State, 820 So. 2d 199, 207-208 (Fla. 2002). Counsel's performance is

presumed constitutionally adequate, Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 689

(1984), and "[r]easoned trial tactics do not amount to ineffective assistance of

counsel." Gorby v. State, 819 So. 2d 664, 678 (Fla. 2002).

B. Counsel's decision not to file a motion to suppress

The State initially notes that appellant failed to challenge the search and seizure of his car at trial and before this Court on direct appeal, thereby defaulting the issue, and any incidental allegation of ineffective assistance of counsel is insufficient to overcome the procedural bar. <u>See Stewart v. State</u>, 801 So. 2d 59, 64 n.6 (Fla. 2001) (claim of "overbroad prosecutorial argument on aggravating circumstances and *ineffectiveness of counsel for failing to object to the same*" held procedurally defaulted as not raised on direct appeal) (emphasis added).

In any event, having reviewed the claim as raised, the trial court properly denied relief, stating as follows:

Regarding evidence found in the vehicle left by the Defendant at the airport, a review of the affidavits and search warrants is helpful. The first affidavit for search warrant, sworn to by Charles Griffith on January 14, 1993, laid out these pertinent facts to support the issuance of the search warrant:

1. Susan Morris was reported missing on January 12, 1993;

2. Later that afternoon, the Defendant was reported driving Miss Morris' vehicle by his brother, Robert Branch;

3. The Defendant had previously been driving the 1982 Pontiac Bonneville in question;

4. That Branch was a fugitive from charges out of Evansville, Indiana, and was also wanted by the Bay County Sheriffs Office for charges of Sexual Battery;

5. Presumably on the afternoon of January 12, 1993, Florida Department of Law Enforcement was dispatched to the Pensacola

Airport to investigate an identification of the Pontiac Bonneville in question;

6. The FDLE officer confirmed the identification of the Bonneville and observed that the rear end of the vehicle appeared lower to the ground than the front, consistent with weight being in the trunk;

7. The FDLE officer opened the trunk to determine whether it contained Miss Morris;

8. Miss Morris was not in the trunk;

9. The Bonneville was sealed and transported to the Escambia County Sheriffs Office where it was stored in a secure garage;

10. The only reference to items inside the vehicle prior to the issuance of the search warrant was the sentence "there appeared to be suitcases and clothing throughout the vehicle";

11. Around 5:00 p.m. January 13, 1993, Susan Morris's body was found unclothed and crudely covered with woodland debris; and

12. FDLE believed that evidence existed in the car, to wit: "trace evidence including human blood, hair, fiber, fingerprints, and other trace evidence."

The Court issued a search warrant on these facts on January 14, 1993. A second affidavit of search warrant was submitted by Bruce Fairburn on February 18, 1993, which added "a pair of brown pants and cleaning materials" to the evidence that existed in the car. A second search warrant was issued on that second affidavit. An inventory list of items seized by Fairburn on February 18, 1993, was also filed with the search warrants.

The Defendant concedes that the exigent circumstances justified opening the trunk. However, the Defendant does contend no probable cause existed for seizing the Bonneville after the trunk was opened and no body was discovered, that all of the evidence found within the car was "fruit of the poisonous tree," and counsel was therefore ineffective for failing to move to suppress that evidence.

The Court finds the police conduct in this case (moving the Bonneville into a secure garage) was legal. As testified to by both Officer Harbuck⁵ and Robert Branch⁶ at trial, the Bonneville had been reported missing by the Branch family. Although Connie Branch did testify at the evidentiary hearing that the car was not reported stolen and the Defendant had permission to use the car, she did not refute the trial testimony that the car was reported missing. As mentioned above, exigent circumstances justified the opening of the trunk. The formerly missing vehicle was not searched beyond that without a warrant, but was moved to a secure garage. Moving the vehicle from a public parking lot to an impound lot was entirely reasonable.⁷

Even if the police's actions were improper, the Defendant's claim fails. The "fruit of the poisonous tree" doctrine forbids the use of evidence in court if it is the product or fruit of a search or seizure or interrogation carried out in violation of constitutional rights. <u>Craig v.</u> <u>State</u>, 510 So.2d 857, 862 (Fla. 1987). However, this exclusionary rule has its exceptions, including the "Inevitable Discovery_Doctrine." A summary of the "Inevitable Discovery Doctrine" can be

⁵ Trial transcripts, pgs. 581,583.

⁶ Trial transcripts, pgs. 564-565.

⁷ Although unnecessary to resolve this claim, the Court notes that the Defendant was on the run from charges in two separate states at the time. There is a reasonable legal conclusion that the Bonneville may have been abandoned. <u>Branch</u>, 685 So.2d at 1251 ('Branch's Pontiac was discovered *abandoned* in the Pensacola airport parking lot")(emphasis added).

found in Moody v. State, 842 So.2d 754, 759 (Fla. 2003):

Although the stop was illegal, the fruit of the poisonous tree doctrine does not automatically render any and all evidence inadmissible. A court may admit such evidence if the State can show that (1) an independent source existed for the discovery of the evidence, <u>Silverthorne Lumber Co. v. United States</u>, 251 U.S. 385, 40 S.Ct. 182, 64 L.Ed. 319 (1920); or (2) the evidence would have inevitably been discovered in the course of a legitimate investigation, <u>Nix v. Williams</u>, 467 U.S. 431, 104 S.Ct. 2501, 81 L.Ed.2d 377 (1984); or (3) sufficient attenuation existed between the challenged evidence and the illegal conduct, <u>Wong Sun v. United States</u>, 371 U.S. 471, 83 S.Ct. 407, 9 L.Ed.2d 441 (1963).

The <u>Moody</u> Court goes on to describe the elements needed to prove that the evidence would have inevitably been discovered in the course of a legitimate investigation:

In making a case for inevitable discovery, the State must show "that at the time of the constitutional violation an investigation was already under way." Nix v. Williams, 467 U.S. 431, 457,104 S.Ct. 2501, 81 L.Ed.2d 377 (1984) "[I]nevitable discovery (Stevens, J., concurring). involves no speculative elements" Id. at 444 n. 5, 104 S.Ct. 2501. In other words, the State cannot argue that some possible further investigation would have revealed the evidence. See State v. Duggins, 691 So.2d 566,568 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997); Bowen v. State, 685 So.2d 942 (Fla. 5th DCA 1996) (holding that speculation may not play a part in the inevitable discovery rule and that the focus must be on demonstrated fact capable of verification). In other words, the case must be in such a posture that the facts already in the possession of the police would have led to this evidence notwithstanding the police misconduct.

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